#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JUAN CARLOS CHAVEZ, Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC07-952 Lower Ct. F95-37867

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY
STATE OF FLORIDA

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT A. NORGARD For the Firm Norgard and Norgard Florida Bar No. 322059

P.O. Box 811 Bartow, FL 33831

863-533-8556 Fax 863-533-1334 ANDREA M. NORGARD For the Firm Norgard and Norgard Florida Bar No. 660166

P.O. Box 811 Bartow, FL 33831

863-533-8556 Fax 863-533-1334

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This appeal comes to this Court after the denial of the Appellant's, JUAN CARLOS CHAVEZ, Motion for Post-Conviction Relief pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851, in a capital proceeding. The Appellant, Mr. Chavez, will be referred to by name and the State of Florida as the State in this Initial Brief.

The record on appeal provided by the Clerk consists of 10 volumes. Volumes I-IV contains the filings of the parties and transcripts of the pre-hearing status These documents are not in chronological conferences. order, however the documents have been sequentially numbered in the lower right hand corner. Volume III also contains the testimony of two witnesses, whose testimony is reproduced in Volume X. Volumes I-IV will be referenced in this brief with the designation "R" following the volume number. Volumes V-X are the transcripts of the evidentiary These volumes have not been renumbered accordance with the volumes I-IV. The transcripts contain the original page number assigned by the court reporter in upper right hand corner. The transcripts will referenced in this brief by the designation "T" following the volume number.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An Indictment was brought against Mr. Chavez on December 20, 1995 by the Grand Jury for the Eleventh Judicial Circuit for the first-degree murder of Samuel James Ryce on or about September 11, 1995 contrary to §782.04(1) and §775.087 (Fla. Stat. 1995). (I,R133-135) Mr. Chavez was also indicted for the offenses of Sexual Battery-Victim Under 12 Year contrary to §794.011(2) and §775.087 (Fla. Stat. 1995) and Kidnapping with a Weapon contrary to §787.01 and §775.087 (Fla. Stat. 1995) as well. (I,R133-134) Mr. Chavez was represented by the Office of the Public Defender, specifically APD's Art Koch, Manny Alvarez, Andrew Stanton, Pat Nally, Steve Harper, and Edith Georgi.(I,R2)

Mr. Chavez, through counsel, moved to suppress his statements to police made at the time of his initial detention and arrest.(I,R27-37[court docket]) The motion was denied by the trial court. The trial court's ruling was upheld by this Court in <a href="Chavez v. State">Chavez v. State</a>, 832 So.2d 730 (Fla.2002).

After an unsuccessful attempt in Dade County to seat a jury, venue was changed to Orange County. Mr. Chavez was

tried by jury from August 24, 1998 to September 18, 1998. The jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged on each count of the indictment on September 18, 1998.(I,R64) Penalty phase was conducted on October 26, 1998.(II,R344) The jury returned a unanimous recommendation for death on October 27, 1998.(I,R344) The trial court conducted a Spencer hearing on November 10, 1998, during which a statement of Mr. Chavez was admitted into evidence.(I,R48) Mr. Chavez was sentenced to death on November 13, 1998.(II,R344-352)

Mr. Chavez appealed his conviction and sentence to this Court. Mr. Chavez was represented by Mr. Robert Harper on his direct appeal. This Court affirmed the judgment and conviction in <a href="Chavez v. State">Chavez v. State</a>, 832 So.2d 730 (Fla. 2002).

Attorney John Lipinski was appointed by the trial court to represent Mr. Chavez in post-conviction proceedings.(I,R70) Mr. Lipinski filed a "RULE 3.850 MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF" on July 19, 2004.(I,R136-195) Mr. Lipinski executed an oath which accompanied the motion, however Mr. Chavez did not.(I,R61-62) Mr. Chavez was relieved of Mr. Lipinski's representation and Mr. Lee Weissenborn was appointed to represent Mr. Chavez.

Mr. Weissenborn filed an "AMENDED RULE 3.851 MOTION FOR POST CONVICTION RELIEF".(II,R198-214) The certificate of service contained in the record does not contain a date of service, but carries a date stamp of May 5, 2005 from the Dade County Clerk's Office.(II,R198) The Weissenborn motion raised three grounds and adopted those claims previously raised in the Lipinski motion.(II,R199-213) The State filed a response to both the Lipiniski and Weissenborn motions on July 1, 2005. (II,R217-270)

The trial court, the Honorable Marc Schumacher, entered an ORDER ON DEFENDANT'S AMENDED RULE 3.851 MOTION FOR POST CONVICTION RELIEF on August 22, 2005.(II,R271-280) The trial court addressed each of the claims raised in the Weissenborn motion as follows:

- 1. Ground No. 1-hearing granted on claim of systemic ineffectiveness of the Office of the Public Defender and conflicts between the various lawyers representing Mr. Chavez, and conflicts with the elected public defender, Mr. Bennett Brummer.(II,R271)
- 2. Ground No. 2- hearing denied on claim that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to argue that the gun seized during a search of Mr. Chavez's trailer should have been excluded from evidence because it was not specifically

listed in the search warrant denied due to warrant describing a revolver and the defendant's execution of a consent to search form.(II,R271-72)

3. Ground No. 3- claim denied as procedurally barred that the public defender should have required the appellate attorney to raise as an issue that the trial judge should have recused himself.(II,R272)

The trial court then addressed the claims raised in the Lipinski motion as follows:

- 4. Jury Challenges- claim denied as procedurally barred when could have been raised on direct appeal.(II,R272-273)
- 5. Weight of Aggravators v. Mitigators- claim denied as procedurally barred because standard jury instructions regarding weighing of aggravators and mitigators could have been raised on direct appeal and there was no showing that the instructions were incorrect or otherwise unconstitutional.(II,R274)
- 6. Sentencing Utterance of Defense-claim denied as without merit that defense attorney made statement that could be construed as conceding guilt in penalty phase closing argument.(II,R274)
  - 7. Orders of Disqualified Judge- claim denied as

insufficient on its face that trial counsel should have sought reconsideration of orders by substitute judge after recusal of judge who entered original orders.(II,R274-75)

- 8. Resignation of ASA Michael Band-evidentiary hearing granted on claim that ASA who resigned his position prior to trial could not serve as prosecutor at trial.(II,R278)
- 9. Crying Juror- claim denied as without merit based on statement by the trial court that the record established the juror was questioned by the court and avowed that her emotional reaction would not prevent her from carrying out her duties as a juror.(II,R275)
- 10. Opening the Door- claim denied as procedurally barred that the defense opened the door to the introduction of evidence when issue could have been raised on direct appeal.(II,R275)
- 11. Prosecution Closing Argument-claim denied as without merit because complained of statements were taken out of context and were appropriate reply to defense closing.(II,R275-76)
- 12. Apprendi/Blakely/Ring- claim procedurally barred because issue was raised and decided on direct appeal. (II,R276)

- 13. Confession Matching Evidence- evidentiary hearing granted on claim that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to establish that Mr. Chavez's confession did not match the crime scene evidence.(II,R276)
- 14. Defendant Involvement in Defense- evidentiary hearing granted on claim that defense counsel failed to communicate about the case and defense with client.(II,R277)
- 15. Chavez Watch- evidentiary hearing granted on claim that defense counsel advised Mr. Chavez to testify falsely under oath that his watch was taken from him by the police when photo of Mr. Chavez showed him wearing his watch during interrogation contradicted this assertion.(II,R277)
- 16. Horse Trailer- evidentiary hearing granted on claim that trial counsel failed to locate witness who owned and lived in the trailer who would have testified that he was the owner of the items recovered in the trailer.(II,R277)
- 17. Gun Prints- evidentiary hearing granted on claim that trial counsel failed to obtain the fingerprints of Edward Scheinhaus and compare his prints to a print found on a gun retrieved from the trailer.(II,R277)

- 18. Ryce Body- claim denied on merits as insufficiently pled.(II,R277-278)
- 19. State Props- claim denied on merits as insufficiently pled.(II,R278)
- 20. Mitigation Phase- evidentiary hearing granted on claim that trial counsel did not consult with Mr. Chavez about mitigation phase preparation.(II,R278)
- 21. Susan Scheinhaus and Ed DUI-claim denied as issue involved a collateral matter not relevant to issues at trial.(II,R278-79)
- 22. Cuban Police Report-evidentiary hearing granted on claim that trial counsel failed to introduce Cuban police report that established period of time Mr. Chavez spent in Cuban jail, thus precluding impeachment on this issue.(II,R270)
- 23. Photographing jurors-claim denied as same issue was raised on direct appeal and affirmed.(II,R279)

Following the rendition of the trial court's order, counsel Weissenborn moved to withdraw as counsel. The motion was granted and undersigned counsel agreed to accept appointment.(IV,R784-793)

The Second Amended Motion for Post-Conviction Relief was filed on September 26, 2007.(II,R325-352) The Second

Amended Motion raised the following additional claims for relief which would require an evidentiary hearing:

Claim I: Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to investigate and call witnesses to present evidence that Mr. Chavez's waiver of his Miranda rights was involuntary due to his Cuban heritage/alienage, his unfamiliarity with the American criminal justice system, and the significant dissimilarities between the Cuban and American criminal justice systems.(II,R330-333)

Claim II: Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to available mental health testimony of Dr. Quintana, a defense expert retained to evaluate Mr. Chavez prior to trial. Dr. Quintana would have testified that his evaluation of Mr. Chavez led him to conclude that Mr. Chavez was a calm, quiet, bookish man who loved to read, was never violent, but was compassionate and kind in accord with the arguments made by defense counsel in the penalty phase closing argument. Dr. Quintana would have further testified that Mr. Chavez had no pedophilic interests, was not homosexual, violent, or met the profile for a sex offender and in his opinion the defendant did not act alone in the commission of this offense. This opinion supported the testimony of Mr. Chavez and the theory of defense.

Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to present this evidence in penalty phase or at a <a href="Spencer">Spencer</a> hearing.(II,R333-336;)

Claim III: The errors alleged among the three motions for post-conviction relief denied Mr. Chavez a fair trial under a cumulative error analysis.(II,R336-337)

The following claims were raised in the Second Amended Motion for Post-Conviction Relief which did not require a hearing. Those claims were:

Claim I: The standard jury instructions improperly denigrate the role of the jury and dilute the jury's sense of responsibility in the sentencing process.(II,R337-338)

Claim II: The standard jury instructions impermissibly shift the burden of proof from the state to the defendant by requiring the defendant to prove the mitigation outweighs the aggravation instead of the State being required to prove the aggravation outweighs the mitigation.(II,R338-39)

Claim III: The method of lethal injection is cruel and unusual punishment, particularly due to the combination of chemicals used and the lack of medical supervision or adequate training.(II,R339-340)

The State's Response to the Second Amended Motion for

Post-Conviction Relief was filed on October 30, 2006.(II,R290-324) The State did not object to an evidentiary hearing on Claims I and II.(II,R290;292)

The trial court entered an Order on Defendant's Second Amended Motion for Post-Conviction Relief on November 9, 2006.(II,R353-355) An evidentiary hearing was granted on Claims I and II.(II,R354) A ruling on Claim III was properly deferred until the conclusion of the evidentiary hearing.(II,R354) The claims for which no evidentiary hearing were sought were denied as having been raised on direct appeal (claim I), not preserved due to lack of objection at trial or failure to argue on direct appeal(claim II), and adversely decided by this Court (claim III).(II,R354-355)

An evidentiary hearing was held by the trial court on January 9-11 and January 23, 2007. A summary of the hearing testimony will be provided in the Statement of the Facts. The proffered testimony of defense witness Michael F. Amezaga was filed on February 27, 2007.(IV,R718-720) The State's motion to strike this proffer was denied by the trial court.(IV,R721-722;768-69)

The written Closing Argument of the Defendant was served on February 12, 2007. (IV,R660-709) The State's

Response and Post Hearing Argument and Memorandum were filed on February 16, 2007. (III,R508-552) The Defendant's Response to the State's Post Hearing Argument and Memorandum was filed on February 27, 2007. (IV,R710-717)

The trial court issued an Order denying the three motions for post-conviction relief on March 8, 2007.(IV,R723-737;771) The State moved to correct a misstatement of fact in the written order.(IV,R738-739) Mr. Chavez filed a Motion for Rehearing on the order denying relief.(IV,R740-746)

The trial court granted the State's motion for correction.(IV,R760) The trial court denied the defense Motion for Rehearing on April 20, 2007.(IV,R7660-661;777-781)

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on May 8, 2007. (IV,R762)

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The parties convened on January 9, 2007 for the evidentiary hearing in this cause. A summary of those proceedings follows:

The trial court announced that the hearing would be conducted on nine claims from the combined first two motions and two claims from the second amended motion.

(V,T4-6) Defense counsel informed the court that the defense was not waiving any claims denied by the court without evidentiary hearing.(V,T21-22) The defense further requested and the trial court agreed to take judicial notice of the court file and previous record of the trial and pre-trial proceedings in the case.(V,T23)

defense The announced that they would not be proceeding on several issues. After the announcement of each issue, the trial court confirmed on the record from Mr. Chavez that he understood the implications and agreed with the action taken. (V,T15;19;20) The issues abandoned dealt with the role of Michael Band (V,T13-14); the issue relating to fingerprints on the gun being tested against Edward Scheinhaus(V,T16-19); and the Cuban police report(V,T19).

The following testimony was presented as to each claim:

#### The trial defense attorneys

Mr. Art Koch was admitted to the bar in 1968.(V,T91)

After several years in private practice, he joined the Miami Public Defender's Office, where he remained for 26 years.(V,T92) Mr. Koch spent 15 years in the Capital Litigation Unit (CLU).(V,T92) Mr. Koch believed he

represented several hundred first or second degree murder cases and had roughly 28-30 first-degree murder trials.(V,T95) Mr. Koch attended training and CLE seminars over the years, some focused on capital litigation.(V,T98)

Mr. Koch was assigned as first chair, or lead counsel in this case. (V,T67) Final decision making authority rested with him. (V,T67)

Mr. Andrew Stanton began working for the Office of the Public Defender in 1994 after his graduation from Harvard Law School.(VI,T196) After serving in the trial divisions, Mr. Stanton entered the appellate division.(VI,T198) His first assignment as an appellate lawyer was to serve as an appellate liaison in this case.(VI,T198) The trial attorneys in this case needed a lot of help with writing, and legal research.(VI,T199) Mr. Stanton continues to work with the CLU and to do capital appeals.(VI,T198)

Mr. Stephen Harper began his legal career as an APD in 1985 in Dade county, where he is still employed.(V,T26) In 1994 he helped develop the CLU in the public defender's office.(V,T26) He still works in the CLU.(V,T26) Mr. Harper was removed from representation in this case by Mr. Koch prior to trial.

Ms. Edith Georgi Houlihan graduated from law school in

1981 and joined the Public Defender's Office.(VII,T331) 1980's late she helped establish CLU unit.(VII,T331) Georgi has administrative responsibilities and serves as a capital trial attorney.(VII,T331) She has represented approximately 100 capital-charged defendants.(VII,T333) She has tried 25 or 26 first-degree murder cases.(VII,T333) For the past fifteen years she has served as an adjunct professor at the University of Miami Law School teaching in the area of trial litigation and criminal law.(VII,T330) She has been qualified as expert and testified in one post-conviction case. (VII, T330-Ms. Georgi both attends and instructs in capital training seminars, primarily in the area οf mitigation.(VII,T333;335) She was removed from this case prior to trial by Mr. Koch.

Patrick Nally began to work in the Public Defender's Office when he graduated from law school in 1981 and remained for six to eight years.(VII,T281) He left and entered private practice for three years, then returned to the Public Defender in 1990.(VII,T282) Mr. Nally worked in the capital division handling five or six cases during his first tenure.(VII,T284-5) He handled capital cases in private practice.(VII,T285) When he returned to the Public

Defender, he was fist assigned to a felony division, but was then reassigned to the CLU unit in 1996 or 1997.(VII,T286) Mr. Chavez was already a client at the time Nally entered the CLU unit.(VII,T286) Mr. Nally entered the CLU unit with the understanding that he would served as second chair to Mr. Chavez.(VII,T287)

After his return to the PD, Nally believed that he attended some capital training programs and was familiar with the Florida PD manual on Defending Capital Cases.(VII,T287) In-house training was also available.(VII,T288)

Mr. Nally was forced to step aside as counsel prior to trial due to personal health problems.(VII,T296) His health concerns prevented him from working on the case after he returned to the office.(VII,T297)

Mr. Manuel Alvarez graduated from law school in 1996 and immediately went to work at the Public Defender's Office.(IX,T432) He stayed for three years, then left to enter private practice.(IX,T432) He returned to the Public Defender's Office three years later and remained there until two years ago.(IX,T432) Mr. Alvarez had no capital experience during his first term with the PD.(IX,T433) He tried one capital case while in private practice the first

time.(IX,T433) He was never part of the CLU unit during his second tenure with the PD, but was brought into this case after Mr. Nally could not continue for health Alvarez had access reasons.(IX,T434) Mr. to various capital litigation training materials, but had not read them prior to working on this case.(IX,T435)

A. The "Brummer" Claim/Claim I of the Amended Motion for Post-Conviction Relief

Mr. Koch acknowledged that Mr. Bennet Brummer held the office of elected public defender and periodically ran for re-election.(V,T99) In recent years Mr. Koch had been particularly critical of Mr. Brummer's performance as the elected public defender.(V,T100) Mr. Koch made allegations that Mr. Brummer had interfered with his representation of Mr. Chavez in a letter sent to members of the local bar association when Mr. Brummer was running for reelection.(V,T100) Mr. Koch acknowledged that his relationship with Brummer and his administration was difficult after he was put on probation for personal conduct alleged to have occurred in the office.(V,T175) level of animosity existed between the parties.(V,T175) Mr. Koch believed that the office climate at the time of this case was hostile, with staff divided into two campsthose that supported Brummer and those that wanted someone to run against him.(V,T176) Mr. Koch believed that he was placed on probation to force his resignation.(V,T176)

Early in the Chavez case, Mr. Brummer told Mr. Koch he wanted weekly meetings about the case.(V,T100) According to Mr. Koch, Mr. Brummer became upset over certain things that were being done by the defense team.(V,T101) Mr. Koch testified that Mr. Brummer was particularly upset over the length of time he spent on the deposition of lead detective Estopian.(V,T101) Mr. Koch testified that Mr. Brummer was very concerned about public opinion reflecting poorly on himself and the office and was concerned that his reelection would be jeopardized by the Chavez case.(V,T102)

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