IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JUAN CARLOS CHAVEZ,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC07-952 L.T. No. F95-037867

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA

/

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

SCOTT A. BROWNE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 0802743 Concourse Center 4 3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501 scott.browne@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Dr. Quintana further testified that the Defendant's answers in some areas were not consistent with test results. The Defendant told Dr. Quintana he was a heterosexual male. His test scores indicated anxiety in heterosexual areas. The answers to the fantasy questions indicate that the Defendant is not a pedophile, yet in actuality he raped a young boy.

It is clear that if Dr. Quintana testified, his testimony would have been attacked on crossexamination. Additionally, the Defendant failed to call a mental health expert at the evidentiary hearing to testify what mental health problems the Defendant suffers from and what could have been presented at trial.

While collateral counsel repeatedly attempted to point out that mitigation could have been presented at Hearing, the Defendant the Spencer refused to cooperate in the presentation of mitigation. Additionally, given the facts of this crime and the Defendant cannot numerous aggravators, the show prejudice.

The Defendant has failed to establish that either the 'deficiency prong' or the 'prejudice prong' of the Strickland test was met on this issue.

This claim is DENIED.

(V4, 731-32). The trial court's ruling is well supported by the record and should be affirmed.

The record establishes that trial counsel made a strategic decision not to call Dr. Quintana to testify during the penalty phase. Such strategic decisions are almost immune from postconviction attack. Johnson v. State, 769 So. 2d 990, 1001 (Fla. 2001) ("Counsel's strategic decisions will not be second-guessed on collateral attack."); Occhicone v. State, 768 So.2d 1037, 1048 (Fla. 2000) ("Counsel cannot be deemed ineffective merely because current counsel disagrees with trial counsel's strategic decisions."); Chandler v. United States, 218 F.3d 1305, 1315 (11th Cir. 2000)(the petitioner's burden of persuasion is a heavy one, "petitioner must establish that no competent counsel would have taken the action that his counsel did take."). Mr. Alvarez made a strategic decision, one that the defendant has not shown to be unreasonable even using prohibited "20/20 hindsight." Indeed, the record of the post-conviction hearing establishes that counsel's reasons for not presenting Dr. Quintana were well founded. Gaskin v. State, 822 So. 2d 1243, 1248 (Fla. 2002) ("Trial counsel will not be held to be deficient when she makes a reasonable strategic decision to not present mental mitigation testimony during the penalty phase open the because it could door to other damaging testimony.")(citing Ferguson v. State, 593 So. 2d 508, 510 (Fla. 1992).

Manny Alvarez, whose primary responsibility was the penalty phase, testified as to his strategic reasons that he did not

call Dr. Quintana.⁶ Mr. Alvarez testified that psychological testing conducted by Dr. Quintana revealed a "heightened" or above average psychopath score. (V9, 449-50). He did not want the State to be able to "throw" around the word psychopath through its cross-examination of Dr. Quintana. (V9, 462-63). Moreover, Mr. Alvarez testified that Dr. Quintana asserted that it would be unlikely that the defendant acted alone, which opened up the possibility of revealing that the defendant had a homosexual lover and potential accomplice. (V9, 452).

Finally, Mr. Alvarez explained that he would not want to offend the jury by putting Dr. Quintana on the stand to say that the defendant was not a pedophile, when the jury had just found him guilty. He testified that cross-examination would pose a problem because "the validity of Dr. Quintana's psychological testing turns upon the defendant not having committed the offense. If you admit that Mr. Chavez committed the offense then obviously he was a pedophile. And by in large we did not feel this would be particularly persuasive to the jury. And the other issues really off-set any benefit to presenting it before the jury." (V9, 464). The jury had already found that the defendant was in essence, a pedophile. Mr. Alvarez explained: "Obviously if he committed the crime then I think that you would

 $^{^{\}rm 6}$ Stanton testified that in his opinion Dr. Quintana did not find any significant mental mitigation. (V6, 241).

have to concede that he was a pedophile, which means that it would not validate his psychological opinion." (V9, 464). Under the circumstances of this case, Mr. Alvarez testified that his opinion "was not going to be very persuasive" and might "anger the jury." (V9, 464-65).

The reasonableness of Mr. Alvarez's decision not to call Dr. Quintana was established by Dr. Quintana's testimony and the cross-examination that it elicited during the evidentiary hearing below. First, Dr. Quintana's testimony did not establish any compelling mitigation. In fact, Dr. Quintana acknowledged that he found no impairment in the defendant's ability to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law. Moreover, he found that the defendant was probably slightly above average in intelligence. (V10, 516-17). Dr. Quintana did not testify that the defendant had an abusive childhood and, in fact, the defendant denied that he had been sexually abused. (V10, 527).

Second, Dr. Quintana's testimony elicited evidence about Chavez that would not be viewed favorably by a jury or the trial court. Dr. Quintana admitted that the defendant told him he answered questions to "his own advantage" which Dr. Quintana took to mean that he wanted to make himself look good. (V10, 519). Despite this test-taking attitude, Dr. Quintana admitted

that the defendant's score on the psychopathic deviate scale on the MMPI was "definitely" elevated. (V10, 525). Moreover, when questioned about the HARE PCL-R, Dr. Quintana acknowledged that the defendant's factor 2 score was elevated, or about average for prison populations. (V10, 526). That score reflects a selfish, callous, and remorseless use of others. Id.

Dr. Quintana's testing regarding the defendant's sexual orientation was severely tested on cross-examination. The defendant portrayed himself as a normal heterosexual male, who was [allegedly] repulsed by both homosexuality and pedophilia. However, Dr. Quintana admitted that his testing on sexuality was based primarily upon a clinical, rather than forensic, setting and the assumption that the individual would answer the questions truthfully. (V10, 527). Dr. Quintana was confronted with a transcript wherein the defendant admitted to a detective a homosexual with a history of homosexual that he was relationships. (V10, 528-29). This information contradicted what the defendant told Dr. Quintana during an interview and the results of the sexual interest testing administered to the defendant. Dr. Quintana admitted that the defendant was either untruthful in the testing or he was not telling the truth to the detectives. (V10, 531).

Dr. Quintana admitted that pedophiles most often don't tell anyone they are in fact, pedophiles. (V10, 529-30). Dr. Quintana admitted that his testing on sexuality was not subtle, if someone like the defendant wanted to make it appear he was not a pedophile, it would not be difficult. (V10, 531-32). If the defendant answered the sexual questionnaires truthfully, he would not have any interest in sexually molesting a young boy.⁷ (V10, 533).

Dr. Quintana acknowledged that in his confession, Chavez found the mental image of young boys in their underwear exciting. (V10, 537-38). And, after observing a child walking by the road Chavez felt the need for something "sexual." Dr. Ouintana admitted that a normal heterosexual male, as the defendant portrayed himself in the testing, is not likely to be aroused by children in underwear, much less act upon that arousal. (V10, 539). Dr. Quintana was further cross-examined the portion of the defendant's confession wherein the on defendant admitted taking the victim by gunpoint back to the horse trailer and raping the sobbing child. (V10, 542). Dr. Quintana would not expect a normal heterosexual male to be

⁷Dr. Quintana admitted that he had no collateral data to suggest that the defendant had a girlfriend. But, Dr. Quintana admitted he did have some data that named a homosexual lover of Chavez. (V10, 533).

excited by a naked crying child. And, a normal heterosexual male would not kidnap and rape a nine year old boy. (V10, 544-45). Finally, Dr. Quintana admitted that the man who raped and murdered Jimmy Ryce is likely both a pedophile and dangerous. (V10, 545).

In summary, Dr. Quintana provided little in the way of mitigation but opened the door for the State to elicit testimony concerning the defendant's admission to being a homosexual, his psychopathic tendencies, and most damaging, allowed the State to again elicit the details of this horrible offense in an effort to test the doctor's opinions. See Bonin v. Calderon, 59 F.3d 815, 834 (9th Cir. 1995)(decision not to offer expert testimony as to mental condition at trial was reasonable tactical decision where counsel "feared that the presentation of psychiatric testimony would 'open the door' to allow the prosecution to parade the horrible details of each of the murders before the jury under the guise of asking the psychiatrist or other expert Bonin's conform to the whether acts asserted diagnosis.")(emphasis added). Ultimately, Dr. Quintana admitted that the man who raped and murdered Jimmy Ryce was likely both a pedophile and dangerous. (V10, 545). The jury had just convicted the defendant of both sexual battery and murder on what can only be described as overwhelming evidence. Defense

counsels' decision not to call Dr. Quintana was not shown to be deficient. <u>Conklin v. Schofield</u>, 366 F.3d 1191, 1204 (11th Cir. 2004)("which witnesses, if any, to call, and when to call them, is the epitome of a strategic decision, and it is one that we will seldom, if ever, second guess.").

Assuming, arguendo, some deficiency can be discerned from counsels' decision not to call Dr. Quintana, Chavez clearly failed to establish prejudice. As for the second prong of the <u>Strickland</u> test, "[a] petitioner's burden of establishing that his lawyer's deficient performance prejudiced his case is also high." <u>Van Poyck v. Fla. Dep't of Corr.</u>, 290 F.3d 1318, 1322 (11th Cir. 2002). "It is not enough for the defendant to show that the errors had some conceivable effect on the outcome of the proceeding." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 693, 104 S.Ct. at 2067. Instead, when a petitioner challenges a death sentence, "the question is whether there is a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the sentencer . . . would have concluded that the balance of aggravating and mitigating circumstances did not warrant death." Id. at 695, 104 S.Ct. at 2069.

Even if Dr. Quintana had testified regarding his interview and testing of the appellant, and his apparent lack of violent history, much of that evidence was introduced at the sentencing hearing through family and friends. From that evidence the

trial court found and gave weight to the following mitigating circumstances: that the defendant did not have a violent history, that he was able to establish positive relationships, his family background and his good family relationship. <u>Chavez</u>, 832 So.2d at 767, n. 44.

The jury voted 12-0 for death in this heavily aggravated case involving the rape and murder of a nine-year-old boy. Dr. Quintana's testimony provided no statutory mitigation and little, if any, non-statutory mitigation. Addressing a more serious asserted deficiency in presentation of mitigating evidence in a case involving the rape and murder of a nine-yearold boy, a federal court observed:

> This was no crime of anger, no quick burst of uncontrollable rage immediately lead-up was cold and regretted. The calculated, at points terrifyingly clinical. We cannot fathom what could cause one to desire to rape a broken and bleeding child. Perhaps that is what we simply call "evil." But we are certain counsel's failure to throw a few more tidbits from the past or one more diagnosis of mental illness onto the scale would not have tipped it in Eddmonds' favor.

Eddmonds v. Peters, 93 F.3d 1307, 1322 (7th Cir. 1996)(emphasis added).

Similarly, nothing offered by collateral counsel during the evidentiary hearing would have tipped the balance in the appellant's favor in this case. Dr. Quintana's testimony during the evidentiary hearing did not establish a single significant mitigator. His testimony fails to raise the slightest possibility of a different outcome below, much less the reasonable probability required to show prejudice under Strickland. Consequently, this claim must be denied.

ISSUE III

WHETHER CHAVEZ WAS DENIED PER SE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL UNDER THE SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I SECTIONS 2 AND 16 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION WHERE THE DEFENSE ACTIONS AND INACTIONS CAUSED THE ADVERSERIAL PROCESS TO BECOME INHERENTLY UNRELIABLE.

Appellant next argues his convictions and sentences must be reversed based upon a combination of deficiencies on the part of counsel. Perhaps recognizing that this post-conviction record contains essentially no evidence of prejudice based upon these asserted deficiencies, he cites <u>United States v. Cronic</u>, 466 U.S. 648 (1984), for the proposition that he need not establish prejudice. Appellant's reliance upon <u>Cronic</u> is clearly misplaced.

In <u>Cronic</u> the Court recognized that some extremely limited factual scenarios may obviate the need for a defendant to demonstrate prejudice for ineffective assistance of counsel. However, despite the fact that the trial court in Cronic had

appointed an inexperienced real estate lawyer who was given only a limited time to prepare the defendant's case against fraud charges, the Court declined to find such a situation per se Instead, the Court found in Cronic that ineffective. the defendant must plead and prove deficient performance and resulting prejudice. Cronic provides no support for appellant's post-conviction claims for relief in this case. See Morris v. State, 931 So. 2d 821, 829 n. 10 (Fla. 2006) (noting that outside of the limited circumstances mentioned in Cronic "'there is generally no basis for finding a Sixth Amendment violation unless the accused can show how specific errors of counsel undermined the reliability of the finding of guilt.'" Id. at 659 n.26. (quoting Cronic); Woodard v. Collins, 898 F.2d 1027, 1028 (5th Cir. 1990) (prejudice prong required even where counsel advised defendant to plead guilty to a charge that counsel had not investigated); United States v. Reiter, 897 F.2d 639, 644-645 (2d Cir. 1990), cert. denied, 498 U.S. 990 (1990)(applying both prongs of Strickland despite defendant's claim that counsel's errors were so serious that it amounted to "no counsel at all.").

In this case, appellant did not have one trial defense counsel, but three, through his trial and penalty phase. There were as many as six attorneys assigned at one point or another

Lead attorney, Art Koch, possessed to assist Chavez. significant capital litigation experience. Numerous experts were retained and consulted by the attorneys in an effort to assist Chavez. Koch testified that he retained or consulted with "roughly eight or ten" experts in this case.⁸ (V5, 137). Appellant's attempt to eliminate the prejudice component of under the facts of this case, while perhaps Strickland understandable, is a frivolous argument. See Kennedy v. State, 547 So. 2d 912, 913-14 (Fla. 1989)(a defendant must allege specific facts that, when considering the totality of circumstances, are not conclusively rebutted by the record, and demonstrate that counsel's performance was so deficient that but for the deficiency, the outcome of the trial would have been different).

Appellant's allegations merit little discussion but, the State will nonetheless briefly address the issues raised in the initial brief.

Conflict of Interest Claim

It is unclear why appellant mentions conflict of interest cases like <u>Mickens v. Taylor</u>, 535 U.S. 162 (2002) in his brief. Appellant failed to plead, much less prove, a conflict of

⁸ The Public Defender, Bennett Brummer, took an interest in the case and wanted to ensure the defendant had dedicated lawyers with access to any expert witnesses and investigators that they might need. (V6, 264).

interest during the post-conviction hearing below. Such a claim is procedurally barred from being raised for the first time on appeal. <u>Green v. State</u>, 975 So. 2d 1090 (Fla. 2008). "This claim is procedurally barred because it was neither raised in Green's 3.851 motion nor addressed by the trial court."). In any case, it is clear that his attorneys were not operating under an apparent, much less an actual, conflict which prejudiced the appellant.⁹ Moreover, this type of asserted conflict is appropriately governed by the principles of Strickland.

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